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PART |

INTRODUCTION

In January 1993, the Mikisew Cree First Nation submitted a specific claimto theMinister for Indian
Affairsand Northern Devel opment,* seeking the provision of economic benefitsunder Treaty 8. The
First Nation was informed in March 1994 that the Department of Indian Affairs and Northhern
Development (DIAND) had made a preliminay decision to reject the clam,? but neither party
appeared to consider this decision to be final. More correspondence and meetings followed, andin
mid-June 1995 DIAND indicated that it was willing to discuss the First Nation’s claim under the
Specific Claims Policy (subject to formal acceptance).? In respondingto later enquiries by the Firg
Nation, Canadatook the position that acceptance of the claim for negotiation wasin abeyance until
apolicy review of economic benefits claims was completed’

On February 23, 1996, in the absence of a clear decision from the Minister on whether the
claimwould be accepted for negotiation, the First Nation asked the Indian Claims Commission (the
Commission) to conduct aninquiry. The basisfor the request wasthat the Department’ s conduct and

delay were tantamount to a rejection of the daim.®

! Statement of Claim, Mikisew Cree First Nation, Re: Failure of the Crown in Right of Canada

to Provide Collective Economic Benefits Pursuant to Treaty 8, January 1993 (ICC Documents, pp. 83-140). A
Band Council Resolution dated D ecember 9, 1992, had authorized the submission of the claim (ICC
Documents, pp. 81-82). See also the covering letter, Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers &
Solicitors,to Manfred Klen, Specific Clams West, referring to an enclosed Band Council Resolution and the
Statement of Claim, January 12, 1993 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 182-83). A subsequent |etter requestsan
amendment to the Statement of Claim, such amendm ent acknowledging an annual allocation of am munition to
the Band: Jerome Slavik to M anfred K lein, January 22, 1993 (ICC D ocuments, p. 184).

2 The writer of the letter had qualified the decision as a “preliminary” one; effectively he
invited the First Nation to pursue the claim further by submitting more evidence or written argument. Allan
Tallman, Specific Claims West, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristersand
Solicitors, March 29, 1994 (ICC Documents, pp. 193-94).

8 Rem W estland, Director General, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan,
June 12, 1995 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 412-13).

4 Mike Bouliane, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth &
Day, Barristers and Solicitors, February 7, 1996 (ICC Documents, p. 426).

5 Jerome Slavik, A ckroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers & Solicitors, to the Indian Claims
Commission, February 23, 1996 (ICC Documents, pp. 427-28).
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Canada’ sresponse, on learning of the request, was that the Commission had no authority to
consider thematter, sincethe First Nation’ sspecific claim had not actual ly been rejected.® Each party
submitted written arguments to the Commission. In mid-November 1996, Commission counsel
advised the First Nation and Canada that a decision had been made to proceed with the inquiry
requested by the First Nation.” A planning conference had already been held in June 1996, and a
community session was scheduled for late November 1996.2

On November 20, 1996, the Commission received word that Canadahad accepted the claim
for negotiation.” Canada's formal offer to negotiate was dated December 16, 1996.° A meeting
between the parties was planned for February 3, 1997.1*

This report sets out the background to the First Nation’s claim and is based entirely on the
documentsthe First Nation provided to the Commission. In view of Canada’ sdecisionto accept the
claim, no further steps have been taken by the Commission to inquire into the First Nation’sclaim,
and we make no findings of fact. This report is meant simply to advise the public that the First
Nation’s claim has been accepted for negoti ati on under the Specific Claims Policy.

6 Francois D aigle, Counsel, D epartm ent of Justice, to Isa Gros-Louis A henakew, Associate

Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, June 12, 1996 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 464-74). The writer stated
that “Canada does not agree or admit that the claim has been rejected. The claimant has been advised that the
acceptance of the claim for negotiation has been postponed pending the results of areview of the issue from a
policy perspective. T he matter is still under review.”

! Ron S. Maurice, Commission Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Jerome Slavik,
Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, and to Francois D aigle, Counsel, Specific Claims
Ottaw a, November 18, 1996. See A ppendix A to this report.

8 See Indian Claims Commission, Planning Conference, M ikisew Cree First Nation, T reaty
Entitlement to Economic Benefits, Ottawa, June 14, 1996 (ICC Documents, p. 550).

9 Facsimile Transmission Sheet, Mamaw i Developments Ltd., Fort Chipewyan, Alta, to Indian
Claims Commission, Ottawa, with attached letters (1) Dawn Waquan, Coordinator/Researcher, Mikisew Cree
First Nation, to Indian Claims Commission, N ovember 19, 1996; and (2) John Sinclair, Assistant D eputy
Minister, Claims and Indian Government, DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation,
November 7, 1996.

10 John Sinclair, Assistant Deputy Minister, DIAND, to Chief ArchieWaquan, M ikisew Cree
First Nation, D ecember 16, 1996 (Appendix B).

= lan Gray, Senior Negotiator, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,
Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, January 17, 1997.



Mikisew Cree First Nation Inquiry Report 3

MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION
The Commission was established in 1991 to assist First Nations and Canadain the negotiation and
fair resolution of specific claims. Order in Council PC 1992-1730 empowers the Commission to

inquire into and report on whether or not Canada properly rejected a specific dam:

AND WEDOHEREBY advisethat our Commissionersonthebasisof Canada’ s Specific
ClaimsPolicy published in 1982 and subsequent forma amendmentsor additionsas
announced by the Minister of Indian Affairsand Northern Development (hereinafter
“the Minister”), by considering only those matters at issue when the dispute was
initially submitted to the Commission, inquire into and report on:

a) whether a claimant has avalid claim for negotiation under the Policy where
that claim has already been rgjected by the Minister; and

b) which compensation criteria apply in negotiation of a settlement, where a
claimant disagrees with the Minister's determination of the applicabe
criteria.?

If the Commission had completed the inquiry into the Mikisew CreeFirst Nation’'s claim,
the Commissioners would have evd uated that claim based upon Canada s Specific ClamsPalicy.
DIAND hasexplainedthat policy in abooklet entitled Outstanding Business: A Native ClaimsPolicy

— Soecific Claims.*® In particular, the government says that when considering specific claims:

it will recognize daims by Indian bands which disclose an outstanding “lawful
obligation,” i.e., an obligation derived from the law on the part of the federal
government.

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances:

i) The non-fulfillment of atreaty or agreement between Indians and the Crown.

2 Commission issued September 1,1992, pursuant to Order in Council PC 1992-1730, July 27,

1992, amending the Commission issued to Chief Commissioner Harry S. LaForme on August 21, 1991,
pursuant to Order in Council PC 1991-1329, July 15, 1991.

13 DIAND, Outganding Business A Native Claims Policy — Specific Claims (Ottawa: Minister of

Supply and Services, 1982).
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THE CLAIMS PROCESS

Asoutlined in Outstanding Business, aFirst Nation may submit its specific claim to the Minister of
Indian Affairs, who acts on behalf of the Government of Canada. The claimant First Nation begins
the process by submitting a clear and concise statement of claim, along with a comprehensive
historical and factual background on which the claim is based. The claim is referred to DIAND’s
Specific Claims Branch (formerly Office of Native Clams). Specific Claims generally conductsits
own confirming research into a clam, makes claim-related research findings in its possession
available to the daimants, and conaults with them at each stage of the review process.

Once all the necessary information has been gathered, the facts and documents will be
referred by Specific Claims to the Department of Justice (Justice) for advice on the federa
government’s lawful obligation. Generaly, if Justicefinds that the claim discloses an outstanding
lawful obligation, the First Nation is advised, and Specific Clams will offer to enter into
compensation negotiations.

The present claim wasfirst submitted to the Minister in January 1993. Three years|aer, the
First Nation had not received any definite answer as to whether its claim would be accepted for
negotiation. In February 1996, the Frst Nation asked the Cammission to conduct an inquiry intothe
merits of the claim, based on the argument that DIAND’s del ay was sufficient to bring the claim

within the Commission’s authority.



PART I

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

BACKGROUND TO THE FIRST NATION'SCLAIM

The Mikisew Cree First Nation islocated in northeastern Alberta and was previously known asthe

Fort Chipewyan Cree Band. Most of the First Nation's 1874 members live off reserve in Fort

Chipewyan. The First Nation's reserve lands were not set asidefor it until the late 1980s.*
TheFirst Nation’ srepresentativessigned Treaty 8in 1899. Thetreatyincluded thefollowing

obligations which were undertaken by Canada:

And Her Mgjesty the Queen hereby agrees and undertakes to lay aside reserves for
such bands asdesirereserves. . . and for such families or individual Indians asmay
prefer to live apart from band reserves, Her Magjesty undertakes to provide land in
severalty . . . the selection of such reserves and lands in severadlty, . . . to be made.
.. after consulting with the Ind ans concerned as to the locality which may be found
suitable and open for selection.

FURTHER, Her Majesty agrees to supply each Chief of aBand that seleds a
reserve, for the use of that Band, ten axes, five hand-saws, five augers, one
grindstone, and the necessary files and whetstones.

FURTHER, Her Mgjesty agreesthat each Band that electsto take areserveand
cultivate the soil, shall, as soon as convenient after such reserve is set aside and
settled upon, and the Band has signified its choice and is prepared to break up the
soil, receive two hoes, one spade, one scythe and two hay forks for every family so
settled, and for every threefamilies one plough and one harrow, and to the Chief, for
theuse of hisBand, two horsesor ayokeof oxen, and for each Band potatoes, barl ey,
oats and wheat . . . and to every family one cow, and every Chief one bull, and one
mowing-machine and one reaper for the use of his Band whenit is ready for them;
for such families as prefer to raise stock instead of cultivating thesoil, every family
of five persons, two cows, and every Chief two bulls and two mowing-machines
when ready for their use, and a like proportion for smaller or larger families. The
aforesaid articles, machines and cattle to be given onefor all for the encouragement
of agriculture and stock raising; and for suchBands as prefer to continue hunting and

14 Statement of Claim, paragraph 2 (ICC Documents, p. 84); A. Tallman (Specific Claims

West), “Mikisew Cree First Nation, Collective Economic Benefits Pursuant to Treaty No. 8 — Preliminary
Analysis,” October 20, 1993 (ICC D ocuments, p. 144).
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fishing, as much ammunition and twine for making netsannually aswill amount in
value to one dollar per head of the families so engaged in hunting and fishing.™

The last of these dauses sometimes isreferred to asa“ cows and ploughs’ entitlement.
The Report of Commissioners for Treaty No. 8 seems to indicate that the Commissioners

understood that it was unlikely that any of the Bands would makeimmediate requests for reserve
lands, or for the related economic benefits:

Theassistance in farming and ranching is only to be given when the Indians actually
take to these purauits, and it isnot likely that for many years there will be acall for
any considerable expenditure under these heads. . . .

The Indians are given the option of taking reserves or land in severalty. . .
[A]sthe Indians were not prepared to make selections, we confined oursdvesto an
undertaking to have reserves and holdings set apart in the future, and the Indians
were satisfied with the promise that this would be done when required. Thereis no

immediate necessity for the general laying out of reserves or the allotting of land. .
16

In 1922 the First Nation asked for reserve landsto be set aside. The Indian Agent responsiblefor the
Band commented on the request:

To protect their interests, as guaranteed by treaty, both [the Chipewyan and Cree of
Fort Chipewyan Bands] asked for areserve, not for farming, asthey had nowish to
farm, nor isthe land suited for that purpose, but for hunting and trapping. To make
the matter definite, | requested both bandsto apply for areservation, naming thearea
selected. This application has been received and is herewith attached.”

15 Treaty No. 8, IAND Publication No. O S-0576-000-EE-A-16, A ppendix | to the First Nation’s

Statement of Claim (ICC D ocuments, pp. 99-100).

16 Report of Commissioners for Treaty No. 8, Appendix | to the First Nation’s Statement of

Claim (ICC D ocuments, p. 94).

o This statement is contained in the April 1995 report prepared by Specific Claims W est:

“Economic B enefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in A Iberta 1899-1940, T he Crees of Fort Chipewyan (Mikisew)”
(ICC Documents, p. 306). The statement is attributed to G. Card, reporting to the Assistant Deputy and
Secretary of the Department of Indian Affairs, August 15, 1922, National Archivesof Canada [hereinafter
NA1], RG 10, vol. 6921, file 770/28-3 pt 2).
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Reports for that year, and the next, indicate that both Bands wanted reserve lands to be set
aside. Fiveyearslater, the Agent’ sReport indicatesthat no reservelands had been set asidefor either
and notes that the Fort Chipewyan Cree were no longer interested in the establishment of reserve
lands.*®

In 1986, Canada and the Cree Band of Fort Chipewyan came to an agreement dealing with
the Band' sreserve land entitlement under Treaty 8.'° The preambleto the Agreement states that the
Crown'’ s undertakings in Treaty 8 included the obligation to “lay aside reserves for such bands as
desire reserves. . . which may be found suitable and open for selection” and that the Crown *“ha[d]
not fulfilled her obligationsto the Cree Band in accordance with the af orementioned undertaking.”
Since these obligations had not been met, Canada agreed to set aside reserve land (including land
withintheboundariesof Wood Buffalo National Park), to guarantee cartainwildlifeharvesting rights
to the First Nation, to authorize and pay the costs of every boundary survey required for the
Agreement, and to pay cash compensation in the amount of $24 million.

The 1986 Agreement al so containsaclauserel easing the Crown from any further obligations
arising out of the clausein Treaty 8 which obliged the Crown “to lay aside reserves for such bands

asdesirereserves. . . [or] to provideland in severalty. . . .” The release states:

It is understood by the Parties that this Agreement and in particular the covenants
contained herein are for total satisfaction of all obligations of Her Majesty relating
to land contained in the aforementioned part of the said Treaty” and all manner of

18 These statem ents are contained in the A pril 1995 report prepared by Specific Claims W est,

“Economic B enefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in A |berta 1899-1940, T he Crees of Fort Chipewyan (Mikisew)”
(ICC Documents, pp. 306-07). A corroborating source for the fiscal year 1922-23 is the Annuity Payment
Officer' s Report, August 11, 1922, NA, RG 10, vol. 6921, file 779/28-3 pt 2. For the fiscal year 1923-24, the
source is areport from Const. R.A. Williams to Fitzgerald, Officer Commanding the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police, August 6, 1923, NA, RG 10, vol. 6921, file 779/28-3 pt 2. For the fiscal year 1927-28, the source isthe
Agent's Report on A nnuity Payments, 1927, NA, RG 10, vol. 6921, file 779/28-3 pt 2.

19 Agreement, betw een Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada and the Cree B and of Fort
Chipewyan, December 23, 1986.

20 Agreement, December 23, 1986, pp. 1-2.

21 That part of Treaty 8 dealt only with the setting asde of reserve lands for aband, the
provision of land in severalty to individual families or band members, and the manner of selection of such
lands. See clause 11 of the 1986 A greement.
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costs, legal fees, travel and expensesexpended by the said Band or itsrepresentatives
for the purpose of coming to this Agreement.?

Therewasno mentionintherel easeclauseof Canada’ sobligationsto providetheagricultural
(economic) benefits contemplated by Treaty 8, and the release clause did not refer to any claims

which the First Nation might bring other than in relation to land.

First Nation’s Statement of Claim

The Statement of Clain? refersto morethan 60 yearsof “ persistent effortsand requests” by theFirst
Nation to have reserve lands set aside. Even though they were requested, the Treaty 8 “ collective
economic benefits” were not paid or delivered to the First Nation since no reserve lands were set
aside before the 1986 Agreement. The claimant says that the Band has no record of ever receiving
the economic benefitsthat were promised, except for an annual all ocation of ammunition.?* No elder
or band member has any recollection of those other bendfits having been received by the First
Nation.”

The First Nation submitted that since the Minister is in the position of a fiduciary, the
Minister must demonstrate that the economic benefitsthe First Nation isclaiming wereectually paid
or delivered to the Band. The claimant says that the 1986 Agreement dealt with compensation only
for the First Nation’sloss of the use and benefit of reserve lands. It pointed out that Canada settled
the economic benefits claims of the Woodland Cree and L ubicon Lake Bandsfor $25,000 per band

member, but, since the Mikisew First Nation was an original party to Treaty 8, rather than a band

2 Agreement, December 23,1986, clause 11.

23 Statement of Claim, January 1993 (ICC Documents, pp. 83-140), incorporating the
amendment requested January 22, 1993 (ICC D ocuments, p. 184).

2 Statement of Claim, as amended by the January 22,1993, letter from Jerome Slavik,
Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, to M anfred Klein, Specific Claims W est (ICC
Documents, p. 184).

25 Statement of Claim, paragraph 4 (ICC D ocuments, p. 85).
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adhering to the treaty sometime after 1889 (as did the Woodland Creeand L ubicon Lake Bands), its
grievance has acomparatively longer history.?

The Statement of Claim seeks the prompt recognition and fulfilment of the First Nation’s
specific claim, namely compensation for the First Nation’s loss of the use of, and benefit from,
Treaty 8's economic benefits, and argues that the Crown should now provide these collective
economicbenefitstothe Mikisew CreeFirst Nation “inacontemporary manner and formacceptable
to [the] First Nation.”*”

In a sworn statement, Chief Archie Waguan, of the Mikisew Cree First Nation, says that
“[t]hefirst time | was apprised of our First Nation’s entitlement to certain economic benefits under
the terms of Treaty 8, including the ‘ ploughs and cows' provisions, wasin 1991” and that “[t]o the
best of my knowledge or recollection such benefits have never been provided to the Mikisew Cree
First Nation.”?

The 1995 Specific Claims West Report
The report prepared by Specific Claims West for the Mikisew claim includes the following

observations and conclusions:

Asthisreference[in the Report of Commissionersfor Treaty No. 8] makesclear, the
government never contemplated a blanket distribution of agriculturally-related
economic benefits to Treaty No. 8 bands. Instead, it planned to provide such
economic benefits only when the individual bands satisfied the conditions of the
Treaty for the receipt of such benefits.

. . . extant correspondence and other records leave little doubt that for the
most [part] Chiefs and headmen spoke frankly with visiting representatives of the
Department about bands' needs and wants and that those representatives typically
facilitated most specific band requests. The main exception to this accommodation
involved requests for farm equipment and livestock from bands judged to be
inadequately prepared to undertake agriculture on a full-timebasis.

® Statement of Claim, paragraph 7 (ICC Documents, p. 86)

2 Statement of Claim, paragraph 13 (ICC Documents, p. 88).

28 Paragraphs 8 and 10 of the Statutory Declaration of Archie Waquan, dated February 21, 1995

(ICC Documents, pp. 271-72).
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The economic situation of the Crees of Fort Chipewyan was|[that] they had
adways found their livelihood in the hunting, fishing and trapping resources of the
surrounding area. . . . the Crees had requested areservein 1922 because they feared
losing access to traditional resources and not because they had any interest in
farming. There are few records documenting economic benefits asked for and
received by this Band and only one deals with farm-related goods or services.
Instead, the surviving records emphasi ze therecei pt of ammunition and fishing twine
into the 1940s?

COMMUNICATIONS BETW EEN THE PARTIES

Approximately three years elapsed from the time the First Nation submitted the initial economic
benefits claim to the Minister for Indian Affairs to when it was determined that the Commission
would hold an inquiry. During this period Canada and the First Nation had an exchange of
correspondence.

TheFirst Nation’ sfirst Statement of Claim isdated January 1993. Latein October 1993, the
First Nation received a summary of the claim from Specific Clams West.*® After Specific Claims
West received the First Nation’s response to the summary, the claim was referred to Justice for an
opinion whether there was “alawful obligation under the Specific Claims Policy.”

Justice’ s opinion became known at the end of March 1994: the claim had not established an
outstanding lawful obligation on the part of Canadato the First Nation, since the nonfulfilment of
atreaty or agreement between the First Naion and the Crown had not been shown.** Canada's
position was that the Treay 8 economic benefits could only be claimed once a band had made an

election for reserve lands and chosen between agriculture and stock-rasing. No reserve lands had

2 Specific Claims West, “Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in Alberta, 1899-1940,

April 1995" (ICC Documents, pp. 282, 285, 304).
%0 Allan Tallman, Assistant Negotiator, Specific Claims West, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik,
Ackroyd, Piaga, Roth & Day, Barrisers& Solicitors, October 20, 1993, and accompanying document, “for
discusson purposes only,” “Mikisew Cree First Nation, Collective Economic Benefits Pursuant to Treaty No.
8 — Preliminary Analysis, October 20, 1993" (ICC D ocuments, pp. 141-92).
31 Allan Tallman, Specific Claims West, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta Roth &
Day, Barristers & Solicitors, March 29, 1994 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 193-94).
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been set aside until after the 1986 Agreement,* and therewas no evidence of an el ection by the Band
between agriculture and stock-raising. However, sincethiswas Canada s“ preliminary” position, the
Band was invited to submit additional evidence or argument.

In April 1994, counsel for the First Nation rejected Canada’s preliminary position and
requested ameeting.*® It appearsthat the parties then met for discussionsin Fort McMurray onJune
15, 1994. Chief Archie Waguan later set out the Mikisew position in writing and requested another
meeting with Specific ClaimsWest to clear away any remaining “impediments’ to the clam. Chief
Waguan said he did not think that any further archival research into the First Nation's receipt of
agricultural economic benefits would be necessary, since the setting aside of reserve lands, which
had to happen before an election for agricultural benefits, had not taken place until after the 1986
Agreement *

Correspondence on November 9, 1994, refersto aresearch report commissioned by Specific
Claims West to determine the extent to which Treaty 8 bands were provided with economic

benefits.® The draft of this report, entitled “ Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bandsin Alberta,

3 See 1986 Agreement.

3 Jerome Slavik, A ckroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers & Solicitors, to A. Tallman, Specific
Claims W est, DIAN D, A pril 11, 1994 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 195-96).

3 Chief Archie W aquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation, to Manfred Klein, Specific Claims W est,
DIAND, July 25, 1994 (ICC Documents, pp. 197-99, especially paragraph 9 at p. 199).

% Allan Tallman, Negotiator, Specific Clams West, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,
Piasta, Roth & Day, Barrigers& Solicitors, November 9,1994. As well, Specific Claims West wrote the
Executive Director of the Athabasca Triba Corporation on December 8, 1994, advising that research on the
fulfilment of the economic benefits provisions of Treaty 8 was “currently well underway” and that the Tribal
Corporation would be contacted once the research paper had been reviewed by Specific Claims West. Manfred
P. Klein, Director, Specific Claims West, DIAN D, to Tony Punko, Executive Director, Athabasca Tribal
Corporation, December 8, 1994 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 208-09).
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1899-1940,” appears to have been circulated late in January 1995 Two letters explained why
Specific ClamsWest had taken the position that the resear ch was necessary:

The research will focus on determining whether there is evidence that individual
bands made a request for particular economic benefits and evidence that any
economic benefits were delivered.

The research isrequired becausewe want to deal definitively with the issue and not
haveit drag on for yearsto cometo the detriment of the First Nation and we want to
ensure that we have awell documented file when it is submitted to the Department
of Justice for review and analysis.*®

Latein January 1995 the Director Genera of the Spedfic ClaimsBranch of DIAND wrote
to the Director of Specific ClaimsWest setting out the approach of the Branch to economic benefits
under treaty:

Oneof theresponsibilitiesof thisbranchisto assurethat the[Specific Claims] Policy
isnot used inappropriately. For example this Policy isnot intended to be a source of
funding for economic development, though a First Nation may well want to direct
compensation for a claim towards investments which will improve the economic
development opportunities of its members.

... Inthe case of clamsfor economic benefitsunder treaty . . . [w]e would
requireademonstration that the benefits promisedby treaty wererequested by aFirst
Nation at some point in history, and that the response(s) by Canada were of a kind
which created an outstanding lawful obligation as may be assessed by DOJ
[Department of Justice] under the criteriaof the Policy.

36 B. Potyondi and T.M. Homik, “Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in Alberta, 1899-

1940,” draft report prepared for Specific Claims West, January 9, 1995 (I1CC Documentspp. 214-66). The ICC
Documents include a January 30, 1995, “without prejudice” covering letter from DIAND, with neither the addressee
nor sender indicaed, but apparently meant to accompany copies of thedraft version of the research report. The letter
specifies that, unlike the draft report, “[a] final report would contain statements which. . . have been confirmed in the
historical record. . ..” The writer limits the purpose of the report to the “provi[sion of] background information to
the issue of the distribution of economic benefits to the First Nations which sgned Treaty 8in Alberta” (ICC
Documents, p. 267).

s7 Allan Tallman, Negotiator, Specific Clams West, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,
Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, November 9, 1994 (ICC Documents, pp. 200-01).

38 Manfred P. Klein, D irector, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & D ay,
Barristers & Solicitors, November 25, 1994 (ICC Documents, p. 202).
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If the record showsthat such benefitswere never requested, and that what we
are facing is afirst time request, DOJ will till assess in the usua way whether a
lawful obligation under the Policy exists. The branch would not view suchaclaim
as ahigh priority for the assignment of scarcetime and resources, however.

In either case | would expect DOJand ourselves, to assessthe extent towhich
Canada' s support to the claimant First Nation(s) over time has effectively met the
objective of the treaty provision(s). If the treaties promise implements to assist the
transition to farming, for example, | think the record will show in most cases that
Canada s support far exceeded astrict one-time provision of “cows and ploughs.”*

The Director of Specific Claims West was authorized to share this letter with any interested First
Nations representatives.*’

In April 1995 aversion of the January 1995 report was prepared by Specific ClamsWest for
the Mikisew CreeFirst Nation withthetitle“ Economic Benefitsand Treaty No. 8 Bandsin Alberta,
1899-1940: The Creesof Fort Chipewyan (Mikisew).” It seemed to confirm that the First Nation had
not received any agricultural tools/implements, livestock, or seed under Treaty 8.

Early in May 1995, the First Nation's Chief asked for a decision on the negotiation of the
First Nation’ s claim for economic benefits.** The response from DIAND wasequivocal. That | etter,
dated June 12, 1995, and marked “without prejudice,” included the following:

It is our view that there may be an obligation under Treaty 8 to provide the articles
as specified in Treaty 8 to the MCFN [Mikisew Cree First Nation]. We further
believe that the obligation is limited to the actual itemsmentioned in the treaty and
to the number of families actually settled on the reserve.

Asdiscussed . . . thereare. . . two options available to the First Nation. The
First Nation may pursue the specific claims process or can await the outcome of
(and/or participate in) the devel oping I ndian-Government process to determine how
treaties should beunderstood and implemented in contemporary tems.

& Rem W estland, Director General, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Manfred Klein,

Director, Specific Claims W est, January 27, 1995 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 210-13).

40 Rem W estland, Director General, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Manfred Klein,

Director, Specific Claims W est, DIAN D, January 27, 1995 (ICC Documents, pp. 210-13).

4 “Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in A lberta, 1899-1940: The Crees of Fort
Chipewyan (Mikisew),” A pril 1995 (ICC D ocuments pp. 27 3-401).

42 Chief ArchieWaquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation, to Rem Westland, DIAND, May 5, 1995
(ICC D ocuments, p. 402).
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Subject to your agreement to proceed and aformd | etter accepting your claim
from DIAND’s Assistant Deputy Minister of Claims and Indian Government, the
Specific Claims Branch is prepared to enter into discussons concerning the First
Nation’'s claim within the parameters of the Specific Claims Policy and DIAND’s
legal position. DIAND would view entering into discussion as part of unfinished
business arising from the First Nation’s 1986 treaty land entitlement settlement.

DIAND anticipates that any settlement reached under the Spedfic Claims
Policy will bear adirect relationship to theactual benefitsspecifiedinthetreaty. This
approach isin accord with the legal position that the department has received with
respect to the interpretation of thetreaty positions.

To reiterate, your alternative is to participate in the planned treaty policy
development process and to hdp determine in tha context how economic benefit
provisions of treaties might be assessed on acontemporary basis. If your expectation
exceeds what could be provided under a specific claim (in return for afull release),
it may be more appropriate for your First Nation to await the outcome of the treaties
review process®

The parties met on July 25, 1995, to discuss the claim. DIAND again stated its offer to
negotiatethe claim, still subject to the conditions set out in the June 12, 1995, letter. The Band was
asked to confirm that its members wished to proceed under the specific claims process and wastold
that an “acceptance package” would then be prepared. DIAND stated that any settlement “[woul d]
have to bear adirect relationship to theactual benefitsspecified in the Treaty” and therefore would
not follow the approach taken to val ue the economic benefitsin other bands' treaty land entitlement
settlements.™

In August 1995 the FHrst Nation gave written confirmation that it wished to negotiate
settlement of the claim “pursuant to the economic benefits provisions of Treaty 8, as set out in our
Statement of Claim.”* Correspondence over the next six months included a December 1995 |etter
fromtheFirst Nation asking what thestatuswas of the promised acceptance package, aJanuary 1996
letter from the First Nation requestingameeting to obtan a“clear and graight answer” why the Hrst

43 Rem W estland, Director General, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan,

Mikisew Cree First Nation, June 12, 1995 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 412-13).
44 Manfred P. Klein, Director, [Specific Claims West], DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan,
Mikisew Cree First Nation, August 2, 1995 (ICC Documents, pp. 418-19).
4 Chief Archie W aquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation, to Manfred Klein, Specific Claims W est,
DIAND, August 17, 1995 (ICC D ocuments, p. 420).
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Nation’s claim was not being accepted for negotiation, and finally a February 1996 letter from the
Specific Claims Branch saying that the “ acceptance package” was in abeyance, since DIAND was
reviewing the “whole issue of the entitlement to the economic benefits of Treaty No. 8 and other
similar treaties . . . from a policy perspective.” That letter stated that a decision was anticipated

within the next three months.*

46 Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers& Solicitors, to Mike Bouliane,

Acting Director, Treaty Land Entitltements, DIAND, December 19, 1995 (ICC D ocuments, p. 423). Chief
Archie Waquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation, to Scott Serson, DIAND, January 22,1996 (ICC Documents, pp.
424-25). Mike B ouliane, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, A ckroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day,
Barristers and Solicitors, February 7, 1996 (ICC D ocuments, p. 426).



PART 111
ISSUES

Theclaim submitted by the Mikisew CreeFirst Nationto the Minister raised twoissues:. (1) whether,
under Treaty 8, there was an existing and outstanding lawful obligation on the part of Canada to
provide economic benefits to the First Nation; and (2) the nature and value of any such outstanding
benefits. Since, at the date of this report, the Minister has agreed to negotiate the claim, there has
been no Commission inquiry into either issue. We make no findings of fact nor any comment on the
merits of the First Nation’s claim for economic benefitsunder Treaty 8. This report has set out the
background to the First Nation’s claim, based on documents the First Nation provided.

The Commission’ sauthority to condud aninquiry into thisclaimwaschallenged by Canada,
and this preliminary question was considered by the Commission. The Commission concluded that
it had the authority to conduct an inquiry in these circumstances. Part 1V of the report outlines the

positions of the parties and the Commission’s decision.



PART IV

THE COMMISSION’S AUTHORITY TO CONDUCT AN INQUIRY

As discussed above, the parties disagreed whether the facts of this case met the threshold for the
Commission to conduct an inquiry. The gquestion was whether the First Nation’s claim had been
rejected by the Minister. The claimant asked the Commission to conclude that DIAND’ s conduct
in the three years since the First Nation submitted its claim was tantamount to a rejection.’

In March 1996, the Commission advised Canada that the First Nation had requested an
inquiry.®® In June 1996, Justice wrote to the Commission, explaining how Canada regarded the
progressof the claim.*® Thisletter asserted that the Band had been informed DIAND was prepared
to recommend negotiation of thecl am under the Speci fic Claims Policy. Moreover, sincethe Band
disputed DIAND’s “narrow and literal interpretation of the provisions of Treaty 8,”* the letter
argued that thereal issue wasthe different interpretationsthat each party had of Treaty 8 (rather than
whether to negotiate at all). Counsel for Canada stated:

Canada does not agree or admit that the claim has been rejected. The claimant has
been advised that the acceptance of the claim for negotiation has been postponed
pending the results of areview of the issue from a policy perspective. The mater is
still under review.™

A planning conference for the Commission’ sinquiryinto the First Nation’s claim was held
June 14, 1996. The First Nation had requested that a meeting with DIAND take place before the

a7 Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers & Solicitors, to the Indian Claims

Commission, February 23, 1996 (ICC Documents, pp. 427-28).

48 Ron S. Maurice, Commission Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Mike Bouliane, Acting
Director General, Specific Claims Branch, and to W. Elliott, Senior General Counsel, DIAND, Legal Services,
March 5, 1996 (ICC Documents, pp. 433-34).

49 A. Frangois Daigle, Counsel, Specific Claims Ottawa, DIAN D Legal Services, to Isa Gros-
Louis Ahenakew, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, June 12,1996 (ICC Documents, pp.
464-74).

%0 Citing an August 1, 1995, letter from Chief Archie W aquan, M ikisew Cree First Nation, to
the Honourable Ron Irwin, Minister for Indian Affairs (ICC Documents, pp. 414-17).

51 A. Frangois D aigle, Counsel, Specific Claims Ottawa, DIAN D Legal Services, to Isa Gros-
Louis Ahenakew, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, June 12,1996 (ICC Documents, p.
465).
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conference, in order to discussthe Department’s “ policy and approach” in the matter, or to disauss
the stagereached inthe Department’ spolicy deve opment on theissue of economicbenefitsclaims.>
In reply, the Specific Claims Branch confirmed that the acceptance package was being “held in
abeyance pending a review of the issue by the department from a policy perspective” and that the
review had not been completed within the three additional months as anticipated on February 7,
1996.%

In another letter, dated June 27, 1996, the Specific Claims Branch said that DIAND would
not be able to announce its decision prior to July 31, 1996, but consideration of the clam was
“ongoing.” The First Nation's claim had not been rgected under the Specific Claims Policy;
therefore, the Department was* unabl eto agreethat [the] claim be* deemed’ rejected for the purposes
of an inquiry by the Commission.”* On July 16, 1996, after the planning conference, the
Commission asked the parties to make written submissions on the question of the Commission’s
authority to proceed with theinquiry.>

Beforeany submissionswerereceived, the Director General of Specific ClaimsBranchwrote
to the Chief of the Mikisew Cree First Nation suggesting that, since the internal policy paper had

been completed, nothing should hold up the review of the claim:

[ITtismy intention to have the issuesraised by your specific claim considered by the
Senior Policy Committee at a September meeting. Once we have obtained
instructions, we should be in a position to resume and complete our review of your
gpecific claim and advise whether we are prepared to enter into settlement
negotiations pursuant to the Specific Claims Palicy.

2 Jerome Slavik, A ckroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, to Michel Roy, DIAND, M ay 28, 1996 (ICC

Documents, pp. 457-58).

%3 Jerome Slavik, A ckroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, to Michel Roy, DIAND, M ay 28, 1996 (ICC
Documents, pp. 457-58). Michel Roy, Director General, Specific Claims Branch, to Chief Archie Waquan,
Mikisew Cree First Nation, June 14, 1996 (ICC D ocuments, p. 475).

54 Michel Roy, Director General, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,
Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, June 27, 1996 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 481-82).

55 Isa Gros-Louis Ahenakew, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Jerome
Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth and D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, and to Francois D aigle, Counsel, Specific
Claims Ottawa, DIAND Legal Services, July 16, 1996 (ICC Documents, pp. 491-92).
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. . .let me reiterate that the claim has not been rejected by Canada. We
continue to work steadily toward our goal of resolving the outstanding policy issues
raised by your specific clam.>®

THE FIRST NATION’SPOSITION

The Mikisew Cree First Nation maintained that the Commission’s mandate did extend to the
particular facts surrounding the First Nation' s specific claim.>” Within the limits of the constituting
Order in Council, it argued, the Commission is an investigative body with the discretion to decide
itsown jurisdi ction and procedures. In particular, the Commission could determine what amounted
to a“rejection” of aclam as contempl ated by the phrase “d ready rg ected by the Minister,” i.e.,
according to the Terms of Reference).

Asidefrom verbal or written rejections of aclaim, aperson could conclude that aparty had
expressed itsrejection by “action, inaction, or other conduct, such astherefusal or inability to make
adecision. . . withinareasonable period of time, whichistantamount to arejection, deite claims
to the contrary.” The First Nation argued that, even where no statutory time limit is placed on a
Crown decision maker, previous court decisions indicate that the Crown’ s decision must be made
within areasonable time.

Counsel for the clamant argued that DIAND had already concluded that agricultural and

farming entitlements had not been provided to the Mikisew Cree First Nation:

After extensiveresearch, DIAND concludedin 1994 . . . these entitlements were not
provided to the MCFN. This finding should have very promptly led to an
acknowledgement of an outstanding lawful and fiduciary obligation. Y et, after 31/2
years, DIAND has refused to acknowledge a lawful obligation in this matter. They

56 Michel Roy, Director General, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Chi&f Archie Waquan,

Mikisew Cree First Nation, July 31, 1996 (ICC Documents, pp. 519-20).
57 Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers& Solicitors, to Ron Maurice, Indian
Claims Commission, August 15, 1996 (ICC Documents, pp. 556-64).
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have refused to either accept a lawful obligation, enabling the claim to proceed to
negotiation, or outright reject the claim, thus allowing our client to proceed with
alternative remedies, whether in court or beforethe ICC.>®

Although the Crown must be given areasonable timeto assess its lawfu obligation to the First
Nation, in this casethe policy issueswhich wereexplained as the reason for the government’ sdel ay
in deciding whether to negotiate the claim (the firg stage of the process) should have been left to the
the next stage of the process. In other words, determining the settlement value of the claim was
irrelevant to the question whether a*“lawful obligation” existed.

The First Nation concluded that “the unwillingness, inability, and refusal [of the Minister]
to decide, when combined with the extensive delay and other conduct of the Crownin this matter,
[were] abreach of fiduciary conduct and obligation,” and were tantamount to arejection of theFirst

Nation’s claim by Canada.

CANADA’S POSITION

The starting point for Canada's written argument was that the Commission’s role was
“fundamentallylinked and limited to reviewing Canada’ sapplicati on of the Specific Claims Policy”
and that the question of the Commission’s mandate to consider the First Nation’s claim had to be
considered in light of that limited role.”® Canada emphasized that in this case there was no

documentary basis for concluding that the Mikisew Cree First Nation's clam had been rejected.®

58 Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers& Solicitors, to Ron Maurice, Indian

Claims Commission, August 15, 1996 (ICC Documents, pp. 556-64).

9 Submissionson Behalf of the Government of Canada with Respectto the Mandate of the
Indian Claims Commission, August 1, 1996 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 530-38).

60 Canada also distinguished the mandate challenge in thisMikisew case from that in the Lac La
Ronge Candle Lake and Schools Inquiry where the Commission rdied on correspondence from DIAND that
had been written in the context of litigation as evidence of the rejection of a claim. In the Lac La Ronge
Inquiry, the government had taken the position that, unless a rejection had taken place within the context of the
specific claims process, itwould not be a rejection which was within the Commission’s Terms of Reference.
Although the claims in issue had been explicitly rejected, in writing, by the Senior Assistant Deputy Minister
of DIAND, the government’s position was that this “rejection” was outside the “process.” The government had
also argued that the specific claims process could not operatewhile a claim was the subject of active litigation,
which w as the case for both of the claims. In the decision, on behalf of the Commissioners, Justice Robert
Reid explained that the Commission’s exercise of jurisdiction must above all else be governed by
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Counsel for Canada argued that the relevant documentary evidence, which covered January
1993 to July 31, 1996, clearly showed that the First Nation’ sclaim had not been rejected. What that
correspondence did show was that Canada had not yet completed its review of the First Nation’s
claim; therefore, Canada had not decided whether to accept or reject the clam for negotiation.

Sincethe First Nation had made submissionsto the Minister followingthe March 1994 | etter
outlining Canada' s preliminary position, this action showed that the claimant never believed the
claim had been rejected. Thefact that there had been later meetings between the parties, and that the
claimant had submitted additional evidence and arguments, also confirmed the ongoing review of
the claim.

Canada argued that the “mandate” dispute between the parties did not have to do with a
“rejection” of the claim; instead, Canada said that the First Nation was objecting to the time that
DIAND had taken to respond to the claim. On February 7, 1996, the First Nation was told that
review of the claim had been delayed while the Department conducted apolicy review of treaty
entitlements. The First Nation was also told that Specific Claims intended to complete the review
as soon as possible, probably within three months. However, ingead of waiting the three months,
the First Nation had requested that the Commission conduct an inquiry. Since January 1993, when
theclaimwasfiled, there had been “ numerous’ meetings between the parties, and research and other
reports had been obtained and shared with the First Nation. Even 11 monthsafter August 1995, the
evidence was that Canadawas actively reviewing the claim; the Specific Claims Branch was“fully
committed” to completing its review.

In conclusion, Canada argued that the facts showed that the claim had been, and still was
under active consideration. The Specific ClaimsBranch had continuedto statethat it was committed
to having the First Nation's claim reviewed by senior department officials. DIAND’ s conduct,

therefore, coud not be seen as inaction tantamount to arejection of theFirst Nation’s claim.

considerations of fairness. The Commissioners aso did not accept that the specific claims and litigation
processes must be mutually exclusive and, in any event, “[fthe Commissioners interpret their mandate as
remedial. A ccordingly, they interpret it broadly to achieve its objective, which is to ensure, to the best of their
ability, that cdlaims which may be reasonably considered to fall within it are disposed of fairly.” The decision
was that the Commission did have the authority to consider the claims (ICC Documents, pp. 403-10).
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THE COMMISSION’'S DECISION

The Commission’ sdecision to conduct aninquiry into the First Nation’ sclaimwas set out in aletter
dated November 18, 1996 (attached as Appendix A to this report). It stated that the issue to be
determined was whether DIAND’ s delay was tantamount to arejection of the First Nation’s claim.
The history of the claim, including the main events and correspondence from January 1993 to July
24, 1996, was summarized. The letter concluded:

After considering the nature of the issues involved and the amount of time that this
claim has been under review by the Specific Claims Branch, Co-Chair Bellegarde
concluded that Canada has had sufficient time to determine whether an outstanding
“lawful obligation” is owed to the [First Nation]. Under the circumstances, he
considered the lengthy delay as being tantamount to a rejection of the claim for the
purposesof determining whether [the Commi ssioners] haveauthority to proceed with
an inquiry under their terms of reference. . . . Futhermore, the inquiry has been
scheduled in such amanner asto provide Canadawith additional timeto respond to
the merits of the claim before proceeding with written and oral submissons. If
Canada decides to accept the claim, it will not be necessary for the Commission to
complete theinquiry.

... Itissignificant that the Specific Claims Branch initially offered to enter
into negotiations with the Mikisew Cree First Nation under the policy on June 12,
1995 . . . Over seventeen months have passed and Canada has yet to respond to a
discretelegal question, namely, whether the Mikisew Cree First Nation received any
of the economic entitlements promised under Treaty 8. . . .

. .. The claimant has provided enough information for Canada to make a
decision and, indeed, no further requestsfor information have been made by Canada.
Since Canada refused to provide a certain date within which to respond and has not
offered any valid explanation for the delay, other than to say that it is under active
review, it isjustifiable to concludethat a seventeen month delay is tantamount to a
rejection of the claim for the purposes of responding to the Mikisew Cree First
Nation’srequest for aninquiry.®

61 . .. . . .. .
Ron S. Maurice, Commission Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Jerome Slavik,

Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, and to Francois D aigle, Counsel, Specific Claims
Ottawa, November 18, 1996. See Appendix A.
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A Commission community session was scheduled for November 26, 1996. On November 20, 1996,
the Commission received word that Canada had accepted the claim for negotiation,®® and the
community session was cancelled. Canada’'s formal offer to negotiate was dated December 16,
1996.% A meeting between the parties was planned for February 3, 1997.% As a result, the
Commisson has sugpended thisinquiry.

PosTscriPT

On December 20, 1996, in the period between Canada sDecember 16, 1996, offer to negotiate the
First Nation’s claim and the scheduled February 3, 1997, meeting, the First Nation began alawsuit
inthe Alberta courts against Canada and the Province of Alberta. Thislitigation wasfiledby afirm
other than the one handling the economic berefitsclaim.® Thelawsuit allegesthat thefederal Crown
and itsrepresentativesengaged in misrepresentation, intentional conceal ment of thefacts, fraud, and
other behaviour in breach of fiduciary obligationsinthe negotiation of Treaty 8, that both thefederal
and provincial Crowns are in breach of the terms of Treaty 8, that both the federal and provincial
Crowns engaged in misrepresentation, intentional concealment of the facts, fraud, and other
behaviour in breach of fiduciary obligationsin the negotiation of the 1986 Agreement, and that both
thefederal and provincial Crownsarein breach of the 1986 Agreement. In particular, this Statement

of Claim seeks general and aggravated damages (each in the amount of onebillion dollars), an order

62 Facsimile Transmission Sheet, Mamaw i Developments Ltd., Fort Chipewyan, Alta, to Indian

Claims Commission, Ottawa, with attached letters (1) Dawn Waquan, Coordinator/Researcher, Mikisew Cree
First Nation, to Indian Claims Commission, N ovember 19, 1996; and (2) John Sinclair, Assistant D eputy
Minister, Claims and Indian Government, DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation,
November 7, 1996. Canada’s formal offer to negotiate was dated December 16, John Sinclair, Assistant
Deputy Minister, DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation, December 16,1996
(Appendix A).

63 John Sinclair, Assistant Deputy Minister, DIAND, to Chief ArchieWaquan, Mikisew Cree
First Nation, D ecember 16, 1996.

64 lan Gray, Senior Negotiator, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,
Piasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers & Solicitors, January 17, 1997.

65 Chief Archie Waquan v. Her Majesty the Queen (Canada and Alberta), Action No. 9601-18174,
Alberta Court of Queen’s B ench, Judicial District of Calgary, filed and issued by Rath & Company, Barristers
& Solicitors, Priddis, Alberta, December 20, 1996.
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of specific performance in accordance with the terms of Treaty 8, and a declaration that the Treaty
8 abligation to provide landsto the First Nation is in fact an obli gati on i n perpetuity.

In light of this lawsuit, Canada has declined to negotiate the First Nation's claim for
economic benefits, at least until the implications of the lawsuit have been “fully analyzed.” At the
date of this report, the Commission understands that Canada and the First Nation have not begun

negotiating theFirst Nation’s claim for economic benefits.



PART V

CONCLUSION

Inlight of Canada soffer to accept the Mikisew Cree First Nation’s claim for negotiation under the
Specific Claims Policy, it isno longer necessary for an inquiry to beheld into thismatter. In making
this report, we wish to affirm that it is essential that process and systemic issues in the specific
claimsprocess, such asthe devel opment of government policyregarding acertain category of claim,
not be alowed to frustrate the timely acceptance or rejection for negotiation of individual claims,
or frustrate thetimely negotiation and settlement of those claimsthat have been accepted by Canada
for negotiation. At a minimum, delay must be explained by something more than an assertion that
aclaim is “under active review,” and projected completion dates should be met, or, & the least,
failure to meet those dates must be explained in a meaningful manner. Just as fairness was the
criterion governing the decision to conduct a Commission inquiry into the First Nation’s claim,
fairness to the parties must be the criterion that guides the conduct of either party seeking the

resolution of aFirst Nation’s claim.

For THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

Daniel J. Bellegarde P.E. James Prentice, QC CaroleT. Corcoran
Commission Co-Chair Commission Co-Chair Commissioner

Dated this 27th day of March, 1997.



APPENDIX A
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Mr. Jerome M. Slavik Viw fax: d0%423-8044
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Dear Sirs:
Re: L efitg
Owr File: 2108-11-02
L am writing in regard to Canads's challenge 1o the mandste of (he Commission 1o
conduet an inquary inio this matter.  Fusther o my varbal eommunication an
seprember 17, 1996, Co-Chair Den Bellegasde has carefully considered the writlen
submissions of the pamizs and decided 10 preceed with the inguiny as requested by
the Mikisew Cree First Maton {MOEN).
While die regard bas been paid 1o the submissions of the partizs. the principle of
fairmess was the poveming factor in the decision o praceed with the inguiry.
After considering the nature af the issues invelved and the amount of 1ime thar (s
luim has been under review by the Epecific Cleims Eranch, Co-Chair Bellegarde
concluded thar Canadn has had sufficient time to determine whether an custanding
“lawiol ebligation” iz ewed to the MCEN, Usder the circemsiances, ke considersd
the lengthy delay s being mntamount 10 2 refection of the claim for the puposes
of determining whether they have suthority to proceed with an inguiry under thair
wh e terms of refersnce. He alse felt thar il would be unfair and prejudicial 1o te
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MICEH O they did net prozeed with the inguiry Becavse ihis could effeciively
deprive the MCFM from baving e clam reviewed by an indepsodent shird party,
Furthemmoare, the inguiry bas been scheduled 1o such & manner as 10 provade
Canada with additional time o respond bo Lhe merits of the claim bedores
proceeding with wrillen and oral submissions, ¥ Canads decides 1o accepl the
clairn, i1 will a0t ke necessany foe the Commission 1o complets the inguiry.

The chranology of this claim and the decailed reasons for the decision are &1 o

balow,

CHRGROLOGY OF THE CLAIM

It

]

LFY

Janmary, 19595 - MCFN files specifie claim o soonomic eniilemens under
Treary 8 10 Specific Claums West (SCW),

Oenober 20, 1993 « SCW forwards a discession paper providing Canada's
preliminary analysis of the claim w Mr. Blavik.

Mareh 29, 158 - Allan Tallman, 5% advised Mr, Slavik b Coamada's
prelimipary position 15 18a1 the claim does not establish an cutstanding
lawful obligation on the pen of Canada. Canada offers MCFN opportunity
o provide akiitional evidence or written arguments to be taken into
consideration.

Fuly 135, 1954 - Pasties peee1 10 discuss Canada's prelivmmary posilign and
new arjruamants arg preseoted 1o S0 by the MOFN, Fellowing this
receting, 2OV agreed 10 condeer research into the implementation of the
sgricultural and farming provisions of Treaty 2,

Tapuary 20, 1995 - SCW circulates copy of draft repont entitled “Economic
Benelitg and Treary ™Moo 3 Bands in Alserta [£99-79407°

haw 5, 1995 - Chief Waguan wrote 10 Rem Wesiland, Direcior General,
Specific Claims Branch (SCB) seszking desision on the claim.

Jupe [2, 1%%5 - Leter from Rem Weslland o Chief Waguan on & "writhowt
prejudice” basiz acknowledging that "there may be an obligation under
Treaty 8 1o provige the articles specified in Trealy & (o the MOFR." Mz,
Wesiland offered the followang vao options w the MOFN on bow o
procesd: "The MCFN may pursue the specific claime process or can awail
the outsome of Candfor participate in) the developing [ndun-Governmant
process 1o determing how treaties should be understood and implemented in
CcontempeoTany feems. Scbject o your apreement and a formal leler
accepling vour claim from DIAMDY: Assistant Deputy Minister of Claims
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and Indian Government, the Specific Claims Brancls i3 prepared 10 enger
inte dizcuzsians concermang the First MNation's claim within the parometers
of the Specific Claims Policy and DIAND': legal positon.”

August 20 1995 - Leter frorn Manfred Flein, SCW, o Cheel Wi
confirming that SCW would be prepared to negotiate a claim with MCFN
subject to the conditiens se out in the June 120 lzner,

August 17, 1995 - Leper from Chiel Waguean 1o Manfred Elein indicanng
the MCFM 15 prepared 1o enter into negodiations for setlement of 1he
specific claim.

December 19, 1995 - Mr. Zlavik requests response from acting Direclor
General, Mike Bouliane, regarding the stames of "aceeptance packape" af (he
clairm,

Janary 22, 1994 - Leteer from Chief Waquan to Deputy Minister Scou
Serson requesting meetng to discess why the claim had not been acceptad.
Chief Waquan states that Mr. Bouliane advised the MCFN before Clrisomas
that ecnsideration of the clam bad been upleeld "lor o number of so-called
policy reasons” and that Mr. Bouliane had expressed concems regasding the
“precedent affect” and the potential "cost 10 Canada” if the claim were
accepied for negotiatian.

February 7, 1996 - Leates from Mike Bouliane w Choel” Waguan stating that
the "processing of the accepiance package is being held in abevance™ while
1he issue of eotitlenent o scoromic benefits was “under active review by
ihe depactment fram a policy perspective,”  Mr, Boulione statzd that he
sxpected 8 decision from the depaciment within 2 period of three months,

February 23, 199 - Leter from Jerome Slavik w2 the Indiasn Clairms
Conutisaion redquesting an ingeiry i “deerned n:j:q:l'.un" of the claim.

Jupe L2, 19906 - Lerer from Francods Daigle w [ Gros-Lowis Ahenakew,
120, ebjecting Lo the Commission procesding with the inquiry because
"Canada does nol agree or admit thar the claim bad been rejecied.”

June 14, 1995 - At ICC Planning Conference in Qnzwa, Franeois Daigle
cjecis 10 mandate of Commission (o procesd with fpowiny. [noa leter oo
that date, hir. bichel Boy, Director General of Speaific Claims Branch,
reilzated that dhe ceview of the claim had been "held in abeyance pending
a review of the issue by the deparment from 2 palicy perspective.
Although the intenticn was o complete the review within thres months,
circumstances have nat allowed u3 1 do 50,7 Mr. Boy advized that be was
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“fully commited 1o having i Teyiewed by seoior officials of he
deps iz,

16, June 7, 1936 - Leter fror Michel Rey 1o Jerome Slavik responding 1o
propasal made during e June 1dih Planning Conference. Mr. Roy states
1hat "Unforumately, this Deparment is not in & position (0 advise befors
July 31, 1956 whether vour clieny's claim will or will nol be accepued for
AcEotmion pursuant lo The Spegific Claims Policy. We are also wnable to
aiee that this claim b 'Geemied’ rejected for the purposes of an inguiry by
the Indian Claims Commission” pr Roy refersied that the claim was
uncler active conziderztiat BY the depanment,

17, July 24, 19596 - Letier from Chjaf Waquan 1o Michel Roy smung that the
MOEN was “disappoinied” thay gfier three and 2 kalf years DIANRD was
comlinuing o procrastinate 800 delay acceptance of the claim

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES O8 THE ManpaTE OF THE COMMISSIoN

In Canada's written submissions dated appes |, 1996 Mr. Daigle submitied thal
the questinn of whether the Commission kas a mandate 10 corduct an inguiny ot
e o s de deteriind G @ ooty besis soce e idpe of kejection i
nop inextricably tied to the substantive gepecis of the elaim. For the pumposes of
delzrmining this preliminary question, Mr. Daigle siated that the Commission
camna? "deem” & claim 1o be rejected; racher, the relevant queshon is “whether
Canada’s conduct i AamOoLr 10 3 Tyjection.” In Cznada’s submission, it is not.

e, Daiple provided a bref recitation of ine tenns of reference contaimed in the
Omdes it Couneil esrablishing the CoMymission and the salient fadts in suppon of
hiz assertion that the Commissionsrs 4y pot hove a mandate o proceed With an
inguiry inio this marer because it k28 pot heen rejected. M Daigle refered
tw previoes decisiens of the Commisgion to proceed wilh inquinies {the Athabasca
Depesuling and the Lac La Bonge Indjan Band) as support for e view that thers
miust be @ “rejection of the claim on ity merits” before the Cominission can
procesd with an inquiry, While Mz, Daiple acknowledged that Canada's
preliminary review of the claim in Migeh 1994 did ot disclose an outstanding
lawdul ohligation, he siated that further evidence and argurnents bave been
presented 1g the Depanment aod 00 decision has been made conclusively ane wiy
ar anathey, The crux of Canada's afgument is that the claim ha2s simply not been
rejocted.  According 1o Mr Daigle. "DIAND has not completed ite review of the
claim Bngl has et val derermitned 'i'.-hr¢1|;||_-1-l an ils mernits, the ¢lanin shonald! be
sogeped ar rejected pursuam 1o the Specific Claims Policy.”

The Mikisew Cree First Mation's posion 15 e out in & leter from Mr. Jerpme
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Slovik 12 the writer dated Avgust L5, 1986, Mro Slavik assens that there 15 ample
case awthosity o suppor 1he view that administrative bodies created under s1alue
have the reguisite anthority and discretion w make decisions with respect o their
jurizdiction, subject w jedicial review of such decisions. Whele the Commizsion
mus: satisfv itself that a claim has been rejesied by the Minister before 1 can
proceed with an ingquisy into the claim, Mr, Slavik assers that the ICC has the
authority o Sotemmne what constitates a "rejection”.  Aside from an express
rejection in writing or verbally, Mr. Slavik suggesis that & rejection can be based
on "the zetion, inaction. or other conduet, sech as the refusal or inabalily 1o maks 2
decigion of the Crown within 8 reasonazle period of ame, whizh 2 antamount 10
gejection, despite claims 1o the contrany,”

Mr. Slavik stated that whers a clamm has been before the Crown for a reascnabls
period of time 2nd no decision has been made, it is necessary 10 conclude al some
padnt thar the claim has essentially been rejected an grder o allow the First Nation
to pursue other altematives, Although not dirsetly applicable 1o the particular facrs
amdd circomatances before the Commission, Br. Slavik refered o three cases
dealing with applications for mandamus 1o compel a puzlic authority o maks 2
desision. In Awstin v, Minisrer of Consumer and Covporare Affaivs (1986), 12
CPR (3d) 190, the count held 1hat, despile the absence of 2 stautory time limit, an
authority under a lzgal duly 1o make a dzcizion must do so within a reazenabls
pericd af ume. In Skeimager v Miniser of Employonen:, [1985] 2 FO 515 the
court issued an order of mendemis requinng that the deparnment make & decision
on an immigrabien application by & cemain datz. While the count could nex arder
the depanmen: 1o decide the cutcoms in & paricilar mannes, it eould issue
mondamus owing 10 the lengthy delay in making the decision and the 2hsence of
an adequate explanation for the delay. Finally, Mr. Slavik cited Erminesiin Band
Cownsil v Remistrar of Indian and Novehern Affairs [1987) 2 CHLE 70 where the
court found that the Begistrar was wnder @ statutosy dury o make a decision in
regard to a membeership protest filed by the Band, Mr. Justice Strayer stated that
“"Hhile there has besn no express refection of this demand, meove then erough tae
has possed far a resporse and pone has been fortheoming,  This is tanfaawns te o
refusal to decide” Therefore, Struyer ). concleded thar by "refusing or failing tw
give a decision on either of these protests, the Eegisirar is prevenling an appeal 1o
a court 21 his inerpretation of the law, | am sot able o conclude that Parhament
intended such a result,” In Ermireshin, the delay involved was slightly less than
bwo wears from the time when the Band filed s first objection woine Begistrar.
BAr. Slavik submitied that the fzers in this case are similar because the MO
might b deprived of an oppommunily 1o have the elaim reviewed by the
Comrmission given that the mandawe expires an March 31, 1997,
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THE COMMISSHINERS REASONS

As mentioned previoushy, the Commission has decided 1o proceed with an inquisy
inio thiz maner, However, oral submissions will B2 sebeduled 0 procesd no
earlier then January of 1997, Taking ine aceount the case anthorities cined above
i1 is clear that, while they have noe direct appheanon because the Commission
cannat provide discretionary remedies like a cour of equity. they arz instructive on
the questien of whether Canads®s delay in responding 1o the merits of e claim i=
tanlamount [0 & rejection.  Funther support for the decision 1o proceed wilh Lthe
inquiry on acconnt of lengthy delay can be found in ine following authorities,

In Re Friends of Qidman River Saciane (1993). 103 DLR (4th) 244 (F.CT.00) the
eourt offared 115 views on what constituted a ressonable penod of tme for a
decigion 10 be exercised vrder stare. The cour held that the complexity of 1he
subjec! manter has a direct beanng on whether there has been unreasonable deluy
under the circumsiances. The count declined w order merdrimus 10 compel e
Minister of Transport w implement the recommendations of 2n environmental
assegament pancl since only 14 months had lapsed since the release of the panel's
repan and recommendations.  The court held thar there bad been 0o unreasonazle
dhelzy but remained seized of the matter 1w ensure that some forwand progress was
achicyed,

[ B, v. Seapderon (19E3), & DLE (dth) 18] (M.E5.C.A0 -- a Charter case involving
an application 1o have criminal charges dismissed on 1he grounds that thers had
baen unreasonable delay in bringing the marcer o tmial -- the court held that
prejudice was a relevant factor in determining whether there was unreasonabls
delay. Also, U court stated thal whitt constitures a reasonable time depends on

the circumsianses,

In fe Delmar and Pancowver Siock Exchange (1994, 119 DLE (4th} 136 (BCSC)
the court dealt with an application for prohibinon and ceserari challenging 1he
jurisdiciion of the Vancowver Stock Exchange o procesd with disciplinary
procesdings against the applicant. While & great deal of cunal deference will be
shown 1 bodies such as the Sieck Exchange because af 1he highly specialized
pamure of the functens il performs, this case seems o sugges: that the courls are
generally reluctant fo grant prerogative relief apainst the decisicns of wribunals and
administrntive bodies.  Although il is acknowledged that this case is ned dirgcily on
paint, it provides support for the view that the Commission can determine whether
unreasonable delay is 1anamount 1o 2 rejection of claim and that sweh deasions
will gererally be respected by the courts,

The Commission decided to procesd with the mguiry beeause Canada has had 2
reasonable period of fime to respond o the mernts of the claim. [0 significant
that the Specific Claims Branch initially effered 1w enter into negofiahons with the
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MCFR under the pobicy ar June 12, 1995 subjest to a formeal letter of acceplance
frao DIAND Ascistant Deputy Minister of Claims. Ower seventeen months have
passed and Cappda has vet to respond o 2 diserels legal gquestion, namely, wheather
the MOFH recetved any of the economic enticlements promised wnder Treaty B
While the Commizsion appreciates that there are mnlemrebive guestions relaung 1o
the nature and seope of the treaty nghi, these issues are more properly the subject
mamner of setilement discussions

The simpls quastion 1= whether there are eofulfilled rreary obligations wathin the
meanmg of the Specific Claims Policy. Canada’s delay in responding 1o the menis
af this elaim is poo warranted under the circumstanse: because the deloy appears 10
be related 1o issues which are extranesus 1o whether Capada bas fulfilled its lawtful
ohligations under Treaty 8. Simply put, questions related o the “precedent affect”
or “polential cost to Canada” do nol bear any relzbonship 10 the legal guestion in
this matter, Bven i the Comeaission wers o conslude chat it was justifiable for
Canada to cansider the broader polisy implications of accepting the claim, the
apparent lack of clarty in the pelicy (which was developed 14 years ago) cannal
provide a justifiable reason for the patent delay in (s case,

Chiven the narrow lepzl and faciual questions before the Commisston, Lhere 15 no
apparent reason why the Specific Clagms Branch has not beer able o acoept or
reject the claim within a period of seventezn montks. [n February 1994, the
Specific Claims Branch itsslf estmated that the review would be complered winhin
three maonths when the MCFR first pressed for a decision on ibe claim. The
claimant has provided enough imformation for Canada o make a decision and,
indesd, no further requesis For information have been made by Canzada. Since
Canada refused o provide a certain date within which to respond and has no
alferedl aowy valid explanaton for the delay, other than to =3y that it is undar active
review, it is justifiable to conclude 1hat a seventeen month delay is ranamoun 10 2
rejection of the claim for the purposes of respanding to the MOFN's request for an

Enguiny.

Fimallyv. questions of faimess and prejudiee have been wken into secount.  First,
the Commission's decision 1o proceed with the inspury 15 not manilestly unfair o
prejudicial 1o Canada,  Although the Cormmisston will hear community testimeny
on Movember 26, 1996 from the MCFN, wotten ard oral submissions will not
procesd unctl Jarmary 1997 al the ezrdizst. The uming of the Commizsion's inguiry
intes thiz matter provides sufficient time for the Specific Cloims Branch 1o consider
the matter and make o decisson on wheller 1 aceeat the elaim for RegeEALION.

While the Commssion's decision w procesd with the irauisy will requize that
Canada expedite its internal review of the clam, they fell obhgated to procesd
with 1he inguiry as reqeested. The MOFN iz simply requesting a timely respanse
frorm Canada on the merits of ihe claim. If the claim 15 nod accepted for
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nezotiation, the MCFN would then e tna position 10 s2ek an inquary befare the
Coammission or commence legal proceadings in the cours as a manner of sezking
redress. To not proceed with the inguiny would oscasion further delzy and could
frasitaie the efforis of the MOFN o bave thar elaiom reviewesd by an independent
third party. Any further delay could effectively prevent an appeal to the
Commission before March 1997 and could also prejudice e MCOFRS ability
seck a legal reredy througl e couns if the claim is ulimately barred through

limitations periods or the doctring ol lazhes. In the Commassions view, sucl 2
resuls would aor be fair in view of the narrew issue that 15 before Canada and the
Commission.

[f vou have any questions or comments in rerard 1o any of the above, please feel
fres 1o conlacs me af 61394715045,

Singcerely vours,

L

Fon 2, Maunce
Commiszion Counssl

o Chief Waguan, Mikisew Cree Firs: Mation, Via fax: 403-697-32826
Mr. Michel Boy, Direclor General, SCB, Via fax: 9944123
Commissioners Bellegarde. Premice and Corcoran
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APPENDIX B

OFFICIAL NOTICE

Ll |

Irian snd Hovihem Aftzires mdarnes
Allars Canacs et du kgl Canaca

Asnistaed Depady RMmcler  Sodg el 20

Crymy Caroeda
KRk

December 15, 1996 WITHOUT PREJUDICE

Chigf Asehie Waguan

hlikizew Cree Firat Mation

P.O. Box 50

FORT CHIPEWYAM AB TOF LBO

Dear Chiet Woquan:

Cin behalf of the Govemnment of Canade and in sceordancs with the Specifiz Claimy
Palicy, I offer, 25 se1 aut below, to aceept for negotiation of o ssulement, the Mikisew

* Cree Firat Mation's {(MCFH) spacific claim regerding the MCFNs entitlement to the

agriciltuml provisions of Treaty Ma. 8.

Ear the purpess of negotielions, Canads acespis that the MCFN has sufTiciently
extnblished that Canade has o lawful cbligaticn within the meaning of the Specific
Clrima Policy, with regard to the claim.

The steps of the ¢laims process which will be followed hereafter include: conclusion
of o negotisting protacal ascord; negetiations townrd e settlament agreement; drafling
& sectlement egreement; concluding the agreement; rfifving the sgreement; and
finally, implementation of the agreement.

Throughout the process, Canada’s files, including all documents submitied 16 Canada
concerning the claim, are subject to the Access 1o Infiormetion and Privecy begislition
in [orce.

Al negotistions are conducted on 8 “withowl prejudice™ basis. Cannda and the band
acknowledge that all commimications, o, written, formal or informal, ace made with
the intengion of encoursging scitlement of the dispute batween the partizs only, and
are nol intended o constitute admissions by any party.

i
Canada e e
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The acceptance of the claim for negoliations i5 not to he inlerpreted w3 an admission of
bability or fact by Caaeda. In the event thal no setilement is renched and litigazian
ensues, Canaca reserves the right 1o plead gl defences availabls v it, including
lemitation periods, leches and lack of admissible evidenee

In the event that 2 fmal settlement iz reached, the sehlement agresment must contair @
release from yaur band ensuring that this claim cannot be recpened. As pon of the
sertiernent, Canada will alao reguire an indemnity from your band.

The federal negatiztor, Br. [an Gray, has been designated 1o work with you on
resolving this claim. [ send my best wishes and [ sm optimistic that » fair settlemen

can be reached.

Yours sinzeraly,

# I|"'-_._ JI.-""
ot Sl &
vant Deputy Minister

Clairms end Inden Government

c.c..  Jerome Slavik



